STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

YUL GRAHAM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000205

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

FEB 21 2018

SC Court of Appeals

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court err in overruling defense counsel's objection to the solicitor unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to Appellant Graham in his closing argument when the solicitor told the jury that they had to decide what was the truth which was the solicitor's third directive to the jury to determine the truth which was prejudicial to Appellant?

2.

Did the trial court err in charging the jury on the presumption of inference pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-13-120 and in allowing the solicitor to argue the presumption of inference in his closing argument to the jury which was prejudicial to Appellant Graham because the targeted items were not concealed?

3.

Did the trial court err in allowing Appellant Graham's statements made during the investigation by Officer Yarborough to be introduced at trial when the officer admitted that he did not give the Miranda rights to Graham although the officer said that Graham was in investigative detention at the time?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2015, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Yul Graham on the charge of shoplifting with property enhancement based on two prior shoplifting offenses. R. p. 159- 160. On January 25-26, 2017, Appellant Graham proceeded to trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. and a jury. Appellant Graham was represented by David M. Mauldin, and the state was represented by H. Franklin Young III. R. 1. The jury found Graham guilty as charged. R. 148, ll. 25 – R. 149, ll. 8. The trial judge sentenced Appellant Graham to seven years suspended upon the service of three years and three years probation. R. 153, ll. 19 – 25. The following day, defense counsel moved for a new trial based on all of his prior motions and objections. The judge denied the motion. R. 155, ll. 11 – R. 156, ll. 8. Trial attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 21, 2015, Irving Lionel Lewis was managing the Bi-Lo store on Augusta Road in West Columbia. He observed people walking around the store when he came into work as the store was open twenty-four hours at that time. He saw a man in a motorized handicap shopping cart at the seafood freezer. As Lewis watched, he saw the man take several items from the seafood freezer and place them in an empty bag that was in the motorized cart. R. 54, ll. 9 – Tr. 56, ll. 24.

The man picked up shrimp according to Lewis and put them in the bag. Lewis then kept an eye on the man and watched “from afar.” The man was picking up other items as he went through the store which he just placed in the cart. Lewis could not tell exactly what was in the bag but could tell there were at least two packages in the bag due to the size of the bag. Lewis could see the one bag and the other items loosely arranged in the cart. The man then proceeded to checkout in the front of the store. Lewis saw the man go through checkout and then into the vestibule just before going through the doors into the outside. R. 57, ll. 1 – R. 58, ll. 22.

Lewis stopped the man inside the vestibule because the man had passed “all points of sale” at that time. When Lewis asked the man for a receipt for the items in the bag that never left the cart, the man told him that he had purchased those items from the Garner’s Ferry Bi-Lo Store. Lewis then went into the bag and pulled the items out which were two bags of shrimp and crawfish. The items were still frozen. R. 62, ll. 3 – R. 64, ll. 23.

Lewis gave the man the option to pay for those items since he did not have a receipt. Lewis also told him that Lewis saw the man pull the items from the freezer. The man refused to pay for the items although the man had a large amount of money with him. Lewis had someone call the police, and Officer Christopher Yarborough arrived within about three minutes. The

man remained seated during this time and did not try to leave. R. 65, ll. 1 – R. 66, ll. 7; R. 26, ll. 2 – 9.

When Officer Yarborough arrived, Lewis told him what he had observed and all that happened. Graham was present during this time according to Lewis. Once the officer arrived, Lewis said the man offered to pay for the items. However, Lewis decided to still prosecute since the man would not pay before the officer came. R. 66, ll. 2 – R. 67, ll. 8.

Officer Christopher Yarborough with the West Columbia Police Department received the call from Bi-Lo at 9:50 in the morning and arrived at the store within about one and a half minutes. He saw Lewis and Graham in the vestibule. Graham was seated in a motorized scooter in the vestibule right in front of Lewis. R. 73, ll. 16 – R. 75, ll. 25.

The officer spoke with Lewis first to hear his version of what happened. Then he talked with Graham to hear his side of the story. Graham told Officer Yarborough that he had been accused of stealing from Bi-Lo but that he had bought the items in question from the Garners Ferry Bi-Lo. According to Officer Yarborough, Graham spoke with Lewis most of the time and did say that he wanted to pay for the items. The officer also heard Graham say to Lewis that he did it to “try to get one over on him.” R. 76, ll. 1 – R. 78, ll. 24.

There was a store video but the officer did not ask for it because he said that “Lewis was the video.” R. 79, ll. 5 – 20. Following Graham’s side of the issue, Officer Yarborough took him into custody for shoplifting the fifty dollars’ worth of frozen food according to the Bi-Lo employees. R. 79, ll. 21 – R. 80, ll. 25.

Officer Yarborough stated that he did not read any Miranda rights to Graham because he just wanted to get his side of the story, He did not know at that point that he was going to arrest

Graham. Graham did not ask for a lawyer and was very cooperative. R. 82, ll. 1 – R. 85, ll. 24.

Appellant Graham did testify at trial that he worked as a barber and had been standing all week, and his feet hurt. He also had diabetes and had nerve pain in his legs and feet. That was the reason he chose to use a motorized shopping cart at Bi-Lo. When he entered the Bi-Lo store, he saw a bag in a regular shopping cart. He took the bag but did not look in it. He said it was just like finding money on the street so he kept it. R. 92, ll. 1 – R. 94, ll. 2; R. 101, ll. 1 – 22.

He proceeded to buy the items he needed such as yellow rice, string beans and water. He saw Lewis and asked him where the rice was located. Graham was riding past the frozen food counters when he saw Lewis and asked him. R. 94, ll. 1 – 25.

Graham then went to checkout and paid for the items he went to buy. The bag that he picked up from the other cart was in the basket on his motorized cart with his other items when he went through checkout. The cashier saw the buggy and the person bagging the items was in front of Graham's buggy. They could have seen the bag because it was clearly there in Graham's buggy.

The cashier let him ride on through after check out and after he paid. R. 93, ll. 1 – 25.

Graham was leaving the store and had gone into the vestibule when he saw Lewis and Officer Yarborough who stopped him. Lewis, the manager, asked him for a receipt and Graham told him that he did not have a receipt for the bag because it was already in a buggy. Graham said that he offered to pay for the items in the bag "if it's such a big deal." Graham had money on him so he could have paid. R. 96, ll. 1 – R. 97, ll. 12.

According to Appellant Graham, he “was not intentionally trying to steal anything from the store.” The bag was already in another cart. He admitted that he was going to keep the bag. He denied saying he was trying to “get over on anybody.” R. 97, ll. 13 – R. 98, ll. 8.

On cross-examination, Graham said he had about \$470 on him so he had adequate funds to pay for the items. R. 102, ll. 17 – 23. Graham denied opening any doors on the seafood aisle, and denied telling Lewis that he purchased the items in the bag at the Garner’s Ferry Store. He said that he did not say to anyone that he was trying to get something over on the store or anyone. R. 105, ll. 3 – R. 107, ll. 7.

A pretrial Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing was held to determine the admissibility of the statements Graham made to Officer Yarborough. The officer admitted that he did not read Graham his Miranda rights although he said that Graham was in investigative detention when the officer started asking Graham questions. Officer Yarborough admitted that Graham was not free to leave. R. 38, ll. 7 – R. 39, ll. 15.

Officer Yarborough said that Graham told him he had been accused of shoplifting and that he bought the items in question from the Garners’ Ferry Bi-Lo. Graham also said that he did it because he thought he “could get one over on him” but Officer Yarborough testified that that statement was made to Lewis and was not directed to Officer Yarborough. R. 39, ll. 16 – R. 42, ll. 17.

Defense counsel argued that any statements made to Officer Yarborough after the officer placed Graham in investigative detention were made in violation of Miranda. He argued that the statements should not be admitted because they would be in violation of the Fifth and Sixth amendments of the Constitution. R. 42, ll. 23 – R. 43, ll. 22.

The judge ruled that all of Graham's statements were voluntarily made during the "gathering of information in an attempt to make a decision to place him under arrest or not." The judge said all of the statements were "fair game under the constitution." R. 42, ll. 23 – R. 45, ll. 24. Defense counsel argued that the officer had said Graham was placed in investigative detention after the officer spoke with Lewis. The judge responded: "It doesn't really matter when he's placed in investigative detention; the statement was made to Mr. Lewis." The judge told defense counsel that his record was protected. R. 46, ll. 1 – 21.

During the trial, when asked if he remembered Graham saying that he was trying to get one over on him, Lewis responded:

I didn't hear him say that to me, no, I did not.

R. 72, ll. 4 – 24.

When asked if he stayed in the area where Officer Yarborough was, Lewis responded that he remained "somewhat in that proximity," but he was not "right there up on the officer." He said that people were coming in and out of the store and he was still trying to run the store. R. 72, ll. 4 – 24.

During Officer Yarborough's testimony at trial, defense counsel objected based on his prior objection when the officer began to testify as to what Graham said during the officer's investigation. The judge told counsel: "Your objection is noted for the record. Overruled." R. 76, ll. 17 – R. 78, ll. 24.

A charge conference was held where the judge told the two parties that there were three potential shoplifting instructions. The solicitor then said that the inference portion about concealing under the statutory provision in Section 16-13-120 was applicable in Graham's case,

and that he intended to cover those in his closing. He said: "It's a permissible inference based upon the concealment and I intend to cover that in my closing." R. 112, ll. 8 – 25.

Defense said he objected to the inference charge because it was "an improper charge on the facts." Counsel argued that the facts in Graham's case did not support the inference charge because the evidence in question –the bag—was not concealed. He argued that the bag was out in the open the whole time on top of the cart even when Graham went through the checkout line.

The bag was not concealed. Even Lewis said he saw the bag. R. 113, ll. 1 – R. 115, ll. 22.

The trial judge said that he was inclined to give the inference from the statute. Defense counsel maintained his objection to that, and "took exception now." R. 115, 24 – R. 116, ll. 2.

During his closing argument to the jury, the solicitor told the jury that there was a permissible inference that the jury could consider in this case. The solicitor said that it was permissible to infer that any person willfully concealing unpurchased goods has concealed the article with the intention of converting it to his own use without paying the purchase price which was within the meaning of the shoplifting statute. The solicitor continued to explain that it was permissible to infer that the finding of the unpurchased goods concealed upon the person or among the belongings of the person was evidence of willful concealment. He argued that the jury could infer that Graham had concealed the unpurchased goods among the things that he had purchased. R. 121, ll. 14 – R. 123, ll. 22.

Later in his final closing argument, the solicitor told the jury that his job was to present evidence, and the jury's job "was to decide on the truth of it." He went on to say: "It's important that your verdicts be the truth." Defense counsel objected on burden shifting. The judge told the solicitor: "Don't shift the burden." R. 129, ll. 1 – 23.

The solicitor then immediately said to the jury: "All we're doing here today is making a determination of what's the truth for you, that's it." Defense counsel objected again on burden shifting. The judge told the solicitor that there was a comment in the Beaty¹ case that "they're going to answer the questions of fact which was a better way to word it." The solicitor said that he would change that to the facts which he did at that moment. R. 129, ll. 24 – R. 130, ll. 20.

Just a short time later, for the third time, the solicitor told the jury again: "You have to decide what's the truth." Defense counsel objected again on burden shifting. This time the judge ruled: "That's not. I sustain that---I overrule that objection. He's arguing proper." R. 131, ll. 9 – 17.

In his charge to the jury, the trial judge charged the jury on the permissible inference. He said:

If the defendant willfully concealed unpurchased goods or merchandise on the premises or outside the premises of the store or on the defendant's person or among his belongings or on the person of another or among the belongings of another, you may consider this as evidence that the defendant concealed the merchandise with the intent to convert it to his own use without paying for it.

R. 143, ll. 16 – R. 144, ll. 2.

At the close of the charge, defense counsel told the court that he took exception to 16-13-120 about the concealment of the items and the inference being charged. The judge that his objection was noted but the judge had already made that ruling so counsel's objection was protected. R. 146, ll. 24 – R. 147, ll. 7.

The jury sent a note to the judge during deliberations asking for a definition of shoplifting. The judge put on the record that he had inquired with the lawyers that they had no

¹ State v. Beaty, Op. No. 27693, (Supreme Court filed December 29, 2016; Rehearing granted March 24, 2017; oral argument June 15, 2017).

objection to the judge sending the entire jury instruction in writing back to the jury. R. 148, ll. 4
- 11.

The jury found Appellant Graham guilty as charged of shoplifting. R. 148, ll. 24 - R.
149, ll. 8. The judge sentenced Appellant Graham to seven years confinement suspended upon
the service of three years and three years' probation. R. 153, ll. 18 - 25.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court erred in overruling defense counsel's objection to the solicitor unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to Appellant Graham in his closing argument when the solicitor told the jury that they had to decide what was the truth which was the solicitor's third directive to the jury to determine the truth which was prejudicial to Appellant.

In State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 155-156, 508 S.E.2d 857, 867-868 (1998), the Supreme Court urged trial judges to avoid using any "seek" language. The Court emphasized that such "seek the truth" language was unnecessary, and ran the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to the defendant. Id.

In State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-29, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251-253 (2000), the Supreme Court repeated its warning that trial courts should avoid using any "seek the truth" language. However, the Supreme Court in Aleksey noted the "seek" language was used in that case as an instruction on witness credibility. Id. The "seek" language did not appear in either the reasonable doubt or circumstantial evidence portion of the instruction. Id. The Court in Aleksey therefore found there was not a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a manner inconsistent with the state's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.

The Supreme Court in State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 255-256, 737 S.E. 473, 475 (2012) considered a similar jury instruction that "whatever verdict you reach will represent truth and justice for all parties that are involved in this case." Although the issue was not preserved, the Supreme Court instructed trial judges "[to] remove any suggestion from his general sessions charges that a criminal jury's duty is to return a verdict that is 'just' or 'fair' to all parties. Such a charge could effectively alter the jury's perception of the burden of proof, substituting justice and fairness for the

presumption of innocence and the State's burden to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Id.

In State v. Beaty, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed December 29, 2016 rehearing granted March 24, 2017; oral argument June 15, 2017), the Supreme Court **again** held the trial judge's remarks that a trial is "a search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done" and that the jury's role is to "search for the truth, or to find the true facts or to render a just verdict" were error. Id. The Court explained: "These phrases may be understood to place an obligation on the jury, independent of the burden of proof, to determine the circumstances surrounding the alleged crime and from those facts alone render the verdict it believes best serves the jury's perception of justice." Id. Moreover, the Supreme Court repeated its caution to trial judges that they should "avoid . . . any [terms] that may divert the jury from its obligation in a criminal case to determine, based solely on the evidence presented, whether the State has proven the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Id.

The jury's function is not to search for the truth. However, the jury's role of seeking proof is fundamentally different from truth and justice. The jury's function is to determine whether the state has proved the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The solicitor's remarks put in the jurors' minds it was their duty to "seek the truth" and render a "just verdict," rather than do what the Constitution requires, which is to determine if the state met its burden beyond a reasonable doubt. See Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979).

Although these cases pertain to the remarks and rulings of the trial judge, the same rule should apply to the state as well. The solicitor is an officer of the court and represents authority to the jurors as he prosecutes criminal charges. The solicitor should be bound by this same ruling as found in the above named cases regarding the "seek the truth" language in order to maintain

consistency in the legal system and to prevent confusion among jurors. The jurors were confused as shown by the only question the jurors had during deliberations which was the definition of shoplifting.

ARGUMENT

II.

The trial court erred in charging the jury on the presumption of inference pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-13-120 and in allowing the solicitor to argue the presumption of inference in his closing argument to the jury which was prejudicial to Appellant Graham because the targeted items were not concealed.

South Carolina Code Section 16-13-120 provides:

It is permissible to infer that any person wilfully concealing unpurchased goods or merchandise of any store or other mercantile establishment either on the premises or outside the premises of the store has concealed the article with the intention of converting it to his own use without paying the purchase price thereof within the meaning of Section 16-13-110. It is also permissible to infer that the finding of the unpurchased goods or merchandise concealed upon the person or among the belongings of the person is evidence of wilful concealment. If the person conceals or causes to be concealed the unpurchased goods or merchandise upon the person or among the belongings of another, it is also permissible to infer that the person concealing such goods wilfully concealed them with the intention of converting them to his own use without paying the purchase price thereof within the meaning of Section 16-13-110.

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