ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000205

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Yul Graham,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

Samuel R. Hubbard, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 East Main Street  
Suite 309  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The solicitor's statements to the jury did not improperly shift or dilute the State's burden of proof.**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred by overruling his objection to the solicitor's references to "the truth" during closing argument. There is no legal authority holding prosecutors cannot mention "the truth" when addressing the jury.

In reviewing the propriety of the solicitor's remarks to the jury, the trial court has wide discretion in ruling on the appropriateness of a closing argument. State v. Raffaldt, 318 S.C. 110, 456 S.E.2d 390, 393 (1995); see State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996) ("The trial court has broad discretion when dealing with the propriety of the solicitor's argument."). Appellate courts will not disturb the trial court's ruling regarding a closing argument unless there is a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Rudd, 355 S.C. 543, 586 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2003). "It is sometimes difficult to draw the line between proper and improper argument, but counsel's remarks must be confined within the record. However, some latitude must necessarily be allowed and it must, to a large extent, be left to the wide discretion of the Circuit Judge." State v. Edgeworth, 239 S.C. 10, 121 S.E.2d 248, 250 (1961).

Appellate courts will review the alleged impropriety of an opening or closing argument in the context of the entire record and must determine whether the comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of the defendant's due process rights. Rudd, 586 S.E.2d at 157. The appellant has the burden of proving the allegedly improper argument rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). "The relevant question is whether the solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 17, 482 S.E.2d 760, 766 (1997). "[I]t is not enough that the remarks were

undesirable or even universally condemned.” Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181 (1999). Appellate courts should be “careful and critical” in finding allegedly improper statements of counsel to be reversible error, and “[e]very case must necessarily depend upon its own particular circumstances.” State v. Gilstrap, 205 S.C. 412, 32 S.E.2d 163, 164 (1944); *see also* Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 647 (1974) (“[A] court should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from the plethora of less damaging interpretations.”).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has cautioned trial judges to avoid using language instructing the jury to “seek the truth” due to the risk such language could potentially shift the burden of proof to the defendant in an unconstitutional manner. State v. Beaty, 2016 WL 7474479, \*2 (S.C. Sup. Ct. 2016) (*rehearing granted* March 24, 2017); State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000). In addition, trial judges should not instruct jurors their verdicts “would represent truth and justice for the parties” due to the risk such language could distract the jury from its core functions. State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473, 477 (2012) (Toal, C.J., concurring for the majority). The Supreme Court has specifically declined, however, to hold any mention of “the truth” in jury charges is unconstitutional. *See* Aleksey, 538 S.E.2d at 252 (“Although settled law disfavors instructing jurors to seek the truth in some contexts because it might be misleading as to the burden of proof, we decline to hold any mention of ‘the truth’ in jury charges is unconstitutional.”); *see also* State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869, 874 (1994) (holding a reasonable doubt jury charge including “in seeking the truth” language constituted a correct definition of reasonable doubt when read as a whole and did not shift the burden of proof to the defendant).

Appellant maintains the restriction on judicial instructions to seeking the truth and rendering a just verdict should also be imposed on prosecutors because the prosecutor is an “officer of the court” and “represents authority to the jurors.” Understandably, Appellant cites no authority for such a position.

A solicitor is permitted to comment on the evidence adduced during trial and the inferences to be drawn from it. *See State v. Pitts*, 256 S.C. 420, 182 S.E.2d 738, 742 (1971) (“The solicitor had a perfect right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight that should be given to such.”); *see also Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (solicitor’s comment during closing argument was simply a statement of the evidence which was before the jury); *State v. Durden*, 264 S.C. 86, 212 S.E.2d 587, 590 (1975) (a prosecuting attorney may argue with reference to any matters which the jurors may properly consider in arriving at their verdict, and may point out as well the matters which they should not consider); *State v. Liberte*, 336 S.C. 648, 521 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Certainly, a prosecutor is entitled to call into question the credibility of a defense.”).

Appellant’s contention fails to recognize the substantial difference between a trial judge’s role as the neutral arbiter of the law, and a prosecutor’s role as an advocate for the State, a distinction the Supreme Court recognized in *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009). While holding a charge allowing an inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon was improper, the court noted “some matters appropriate for jury argument are not proper for charging,” and specifically stated: “we neither restrict the State from arguing to the jury for a finding of malice from the use of a deadly weapon, nor restrict a defendant from arguing the absence of malice or the presence of reasonable doubt in this regard.” *Id.* at 810, n. 9 (2009); *see also State v. Cottrell*, Op. No. 27754, 2017 WL6503904 (S.C. Sup. Ct., filed December 20,

2017) (Belcher holding was narrowly tailored to apply to the jury charge only, and did not restrict the State and defendant from arguing the use of a deadly weapon either did, or did not, support a finding of malice). When the solicitor's statements at issue in this case are considered in context, the statements were related to the credibility of the testimony and evidence, something the parties have the right to discuss during closing argument, and the jury does have to consider in reaching a verdict.

The first statement at issue, "it's important that your verdicts be the truth," immediately followed the statement "[the jury is] the only ones that are going to make this decision about who's telling the truth." After Appellant's objection, the court advised the solicitor not to shift the burden, but made no finding the solicitor's statement was improper. (TT, p. 147; R., p. 129).

The solicitor then stated: "[a]ll we're doing here today is to making (sic) a determination of what's the truth for you, that's it." When Appellant objected again, the court suggested alternative language, again without specifically finding the solicitor's language was improper. (TT, pp. 147-148; R., pp. 129-130).

The third statement at issue was in the context of discussing the use of common sense in comparing the State's evidence to Appellant's testimony. After summarizing Appellant's "story," the solicitor stated: "And I submit to you, in common sense, that's not the truth, and that doesn't make sense. That's for you to call, that's your determination about the facts in this case. You have to decide what's the truth." Appellant again objected on the ground of burden shifting, and the court overruled the objection, finding the solicitor was "arguing proper (sic)." (TT, pp. 148-149; R., pp. 130-131).

Following closing arguments, the court fully charged the jury regarding the State's burden to prove each element of the shoplifting offense beyond a reasonable doubt, including the

responsibility to resolve any doubt in Appellant's favor. The court also charged the jury regarding its responsibility to consider the believability and credibility of the testimony and evidence, and determine what the facts were based on the evidence and testimony. (TT, pp. 152-162; R., pp. 134-144).

None of the solicitor's statements were related to the State's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt in any way, or were intended to dilute that burden. The context of the challenged statements reveals the solicitor was simply advocating the strength of the State's case over Appellant's "story," rather than attempting to shift the burden of proof.

Restricting prosecutors' ability to advocate on behalf of the State by discussing the strength and credibility of the State's evidence, especially in comparison to the defendant's evidence if presented, will essentially mean a prosecutor can do nothing during closing arguments but recite the State's evidence by rote and sit down. While the defendant's right to a fair trial must be protected, the State's equal right to a fair trial cannot be ignored, and the prosecutor's ability to advocate on behalf of the State before the jury should not be impacted by restrictions imposed on the judiciary when instructing the jury on the law.

The solicitor did not attempt to shift the burden of proof during his closing arguments. Accordingly, the circuit court's denial of Appellant's objection should be affirmed.

**II. The circuit court properly charged the statutory law regarding shoplifting, including the statutory permissive evidentiary inference.**

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in allowing the solicitor to argue the statutory permissive evidentiary inference of S.C. Code §16-23-120 (2015) during closing argument, and then charging the jury on the permissive inference.<sup>1</sup> The cases Appellant cites as support are distinguishable, and the basis for their holdings no longer applies.

A trial court is required to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006); Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472-73 (2004). “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583(2010) (citations omitted). Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989).

On review of a jury charge, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole in view of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Lee Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007). A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied. State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009).

---

<sup>1</sup>Appellant also contends the statute as written is unconstitutional, but the constitutionality of the statute was not challenged in the circuit court, and therefore, is not preserved for appellate review. *See e.g.*, State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (issue must have been raised to and ruled about by trial judge in order to be preserved for appellate review, and issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal). Further, Appellant did not object to the solicitor's reference to the permissive inference during closing argument, so that issue is likewise unpreserved.

Appellant cites State v. Wells, 282 S.C. 12, 316 S.E.2d 409 (1984), and State v. Burriess, 281 S.C. 47, 314 S.E.2d 316 (1984), in support of his position. He admits, however, these cases are distinguishable from the instant case because they involved an earlier version of the shoplifting statute, which provided certain evidence constituted “*prima facie*” evidence of intent to deprive the owner of his property. The version of the statute at issue in this case does **not** contain the words “*prima facie*,” rather, it provides it is “**permissible to infer**” the finding of unpurchased goods of merchandise on the person or in his belongings is evidence of willful concealment, and it is “**permissible to infer**” the intent to convert the goods or merchandise to his own use if the unpurchased goods or merchandise are willfully concealed on the person. §16-13-120 (emphasis added). This statutory language does no more than codify the well-established legal concept that “proof of intent necessarily rests on inference from conduct.” McMillian v. State, 383 S.C. 480, 680 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2009) (quoting State v. Haney, 257 S.C. 89, 184 S.E.2d 344, 345 [1971]).

During closing argument, the solicitor talked about permissive inferences, and stated the jury could accept or reject such inferences. (TT, pp. 139-142; R., pp. 121-124). The circuit court then charged the jury “you **may consider** [willful concealment] as evidence that the defendant concealed the merchandise with the intent to convert it to his own use without paying for it.” (TT, p. 161; R. p. 143). Thus, the jury knew it **could** infer certain things from the evidence presented, but it was not **required** to do so, and the circuit court should be affirmed on this issue.

**III. The circuit court properly admitted Appellant's voluntary statements made in the presence of the responding law enforcement officer.**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in admitting statements Appellant made in Officer Yarborough's presence, arguing the statements should have been excluded because Officer Yarborough did not advise Appellant of his rights under Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). The evidence presented belies Appellant's argument.

Appellant correctly asserts Miranda warnings are required when a suspect is in custody and subject to law enforcement questioning resulting in incriminating statements by the subject. In this case, however, Appellant was not in custody, and even assuming *arguendo* he was in custody for purposes of Miranda, the statements at issue were not in response to questions from Officer Yarborough, but were directed to the manager.

Statements made to private persons are not subject to Miranda requirements. State v. Lynch, 375 S.C. 628, 654 S.E.2d 292, 295-296 (Ct. App. 2007). Further, spontaneous statements made by a defendant that are not in response to custodial interrogation are admissible without Miranda warnings. Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 300 (1980) (volunteered statements of any kind are not barred by the Fifth Amendment); *see also* State v. Von Dolen, 322 S.C. 234, 471 S.E.2d 689, 696 (1996) (defendant's incriminating statements made to employer were admissible because they did not occur during custodial interrogation by police or police agents). State v. Primus, 312 S.C. 256, 440 S.E.2d 128, 128 (1994) (statement defendant blurted out when he first saw police officer was admissible because it was not in response to interrogation).

When Officer Yarborough arrived at the scene, the manager told him what he observed Appellant do inside the store, and then the manager remained "in close proximity" to Appellant and Officer Yarborough while they talked. The manager heard Appellant ask him (the manager)

several times if he could just pay for the items in the bag, but he did not hear everything said by Appellant and Officer Yarborough because he was taking care of store matters while he stood there. (TT, pp. 84-86; R., pp. 66-68).

Officer Yarborough testified Appellant maintained his innocence during their direct conversation, but the majority of Appellant's statements after Officer Yarborough's arrival were directed to the manager. In addition to multiple offers to the manager to pay for the items, Appellant stated "he did it to try to get one over on [the manager]." Officer Yarborough testified the statement was directed at the manager rather than him. (TT, pp. 95-97; R., pp. 77-79).

At the time Appellant made the statement about getting one over on the manager, he was not under arrest. Officer Yarborough testified he did not make the decision to arrest Appellant until he received some information about Appellant he had requested earlier.<sup>2</sup> (TT, pp. 97-98; R., pp. 79-80). Further, there is no evidence Officer Yarborough ever told Appellant he was not free to leave, or made any effort to stop Appellant from leaving, until he actually placed Appellant under arrest.

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